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10 VALLANZUEILA- San Juen District

Inprisoned at Ft Santiago July 1943 to Oct 1y, 1943.
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CHECK SHEET

(Do not remove from attached sheet
Investigation of Fort Santiago Massacre
File No.: 332 Subjeet: and eircumstances thereof.

swm: | RO AG-KI o:  AG=KJ Datc30 September 1945
NOTE. Investigation Ssction Determination Section

No.
Reference case of FORT SANTIAGO MASSACRE, records of this
office and outside sources of information have been checked.

Upon interrogation of Mrs. Kaimo, 821 Adela Street
stated that she was interned at Fort Santiugo from 22 July 1944 to
3 August 1944 and that the Commandant of the camp was a Mr, Tachibamno,
. Kawata and a Mr. Irasi were in charge of the investigation and

ths torture of prisoners, Fort Santiago was a prison for the intern-
ment of violators of military orders issued by the Japanese Army. Mrs,
Kaimo was charged with the crime of buying and sel]ing Philippine
currency, She was tortured by having her fingers burned by cigarattes
and was also beaten with 2 x 4 boards. She stated that slapping wa:
a common occurrence and that the prisoners were often kicked, llra.
Kaimo was fined 20,000 pesos and thereafter released. She stated that
she had seen prisoners being starved to death and prodded by bayonets

and that on one occasion she was forced to hold a chair over her head
am-l was prodded by a bayonet at any time when chair was lowered.

Upon interrogation of Mr, Pedro Provido, who was interned at
Fort Santiago from 24 August 1944 until 19 Septem{zer 1944, he stated
that he was interviewed and beaten by a o Namaki, He was charged 1
with having participated in guerrilla activities. Mr. Provido was at
one time tied to a bench and water was allowed to run into his face

by use of a hose until he was unconscious. He would then be revived
and the same treatment repeated.

Upon interrogation of Mrs. Maria Martinez, 72 Gastambita
Street, who was interned in Fort Santiago from 13 September 1944 until
9 October 1944, she stated that she was imprisoned because of aid
rendered to American POWs. Upon being interned she was fingerprinted
land a photograph was made and thereafter she was phced in cell No. 14
with 20 other women. The cell was built to hold 4 people, On 1
September 1944 she was interrogated without being mistreated. On 14
September 1944 she was again questioned and beaten by 2 x 4 boards for
a period of four hours, On 1% tember 1944 she was again questioned
land beaten for five hours nfter ' 1c.h she was dragged back to her cell
and was allowed seven days to recover, During the time of her intern-
iment there was little food available and less water., On 27 Sepbembe;-
11944 beating of the prisoners was started again follcming an Americ

lair raid and the meals were cut down to one a day. On 9 October 1944
she was transferred to Bilibid Prison and there remained until 23
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undress in the prssenca of tha Japanese and d. Ehs stu‘ted

that 21 or more persons died each day in the Bilibid Prison

The following information, as related by Mrs. Maria Martinez,
is based on hearsay:

The Fort Santiago Massacre occurred between Christmas and New

Year of 1944. 3000 people were tortured and starved to death. These
persons were beaten and bayoneted. None were shot for tortures were
the customary pra ctice. The water cure was administered by forcing a
tube up the rectum and allowing water to enter until the lungs were
filled, thereby causing the death by choking. Burning was also used to
kill prisonex-s. The men in charge of such torture methods wereCaptain

Kabiasi and Nagahama Nisimura. 3000 men were taken from neighboring
prisons and gathered at Fort Santiago and were killed by torture and
burhing. Most of these were bayoneted to death. No one escaped the
massacre. The reason for this brutality was the repeated American
attacks by air and the possible landing of American Forees on Luzon.

Submitted herewith and made a part of this report of
investigation are affidavits of Jose Topacio Nueno, Hermenecildo
Atienza, Andres D, Sison and Ernest Stanley. There is also attached
and made a é this report an article entitled "Story of Fort
Santiago" 1ch appeared in the March 3, 1945 issue of the "Free
Phillppin!!", a Manila newspaper., Also suhmitted are signed statements
of Aurelio L, Lucero, Serafin Aquino, M.F.Tauwaugeo ai idavit of
Irineo Buenconoe jo. D,
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TO :+ O0ffice of Recovered Personnel

. I was arrested and brought to Fort Sentiago at about 2:00 a.m.,
Ifareh 23, 1943 and confined in said Fort until August 18, 19435 on sa.‘ld
date T was transferred to the 01d Bilibid Prison, awaltlng trial. I we
court-martialed on September 11, 1943 and sentenced to five (5) years
iuprisonment. I was transferred to juntinlupa Frison on Septenber 14,
1943 and served my term until rescued guerrillas on August 25, 1044
I was arrested and sentenced for organiz:mg guerrillas in Manila.

o nent, 1,mm, when the war broke 5t

in December 1941. After tl" "all of Bataan, I did not surrender, but
joined Col. Hugh Straughn and organized '\\erw 1llas late in 1942.

2. Fort Santiago-Nature of-Fort Santiago was not a military prison
or a concentration camp for political prisonsrs. Rather, it was used by
the Japancse as a detention prison for persons under investigation by the
KXempei Tal. For this reason not only those charged with guerrilla
activities, propaganda‘or hostile acts were confined therein for investi-
gation, Those charged with counterfeiting, looting, bribery, racketeering,
violations of Jap proclamations, etc., were equall confined thére for
investigation, It was not limited to Americans or Filipinos, but also
Chinese, Spaniards, French and even Japanese (not only civilla.ns but
soldiers and officers).

fhile evidence is being gathered against a prisoner, he is
confined at Fort Santiago, where he undergoes all sorts of torture, punish-
ment and third gree to extract the desired information from him, As soon
as the Kempei Tai is satisfied they have enough evidence and necessary
confessions obtained and signed by the accused, he is generally transferred
to the Judge Advocate's prison at 01d Bilibid, lianila, where the Persecutor
conducts another investigation based in the Fempei's reports. The accused
are then sent to Court-lartial where sentence is meted out. Those sentenc-‘
ed to death, are executed in one of the meighboring cemsteries and those |
sentenced to prison terms are transferred to luntinlupa. ‘

Eowever, Fort Santiago had also a sort of Military Police Court ‘
for minor cases; and short time sentsnces were and served
in the Fort itself. A ssventy-year old American, Fred Luis, and a negro,
Claude Leftriuge, cellmates of mine, were given 90 days each wb:.eh they
served in the Fort, for violating their passes to a out o§ ’csthment at
Sta. Tomag, Another American, Keyser anothar ce. mine got
days for failure to surrender within dme set rar civuians to hg
interned. A Filipino boy, 19-year, Fell a da Leon, in my cell got 45 days |
for selling military goods. A Japanese soldier sigemitsu, got 5 days fi
drunkenness.

Investigation may take one day, but rarely over 6 months, The
Tongost dstontion we knew Sf yas o Fronchust, (W chlled hin Frotily) 16 .
Honths, but it wes probably becsuse they forgot all about him

charged with being a Pe Gaulldsh, mere wers several S er asbontin
;&gdas)or the Kempel, ne shly T Bastern {ivsraity and Airport Studie
(Tondo).

e o |
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his second-in-command, Wajor Nishimura. The I a Buntai (the unit in
charge of cases in Greater Manila) was under the command of Capt, Koike.
4.  Living Conditions, Diet - Cells were especially built in the
stone walls of the Fort, made of wood, The wooden floors were elevated
about 1 meter from the ground and there were wooden bars and wire-screen
enclosing the cells. Wooden partitions separated the cells. BRach cell
had a swall door and a small window about six-inches square, thru which
the guards peer to see the lmmates and thru which foor wes transmitted. At
the baclk end of the Toom were 2 holss, one in each corner, about 6 inches
% 12 inches. One was a water faucet, and the other was the latrine of the
pail system with a wood cover.

re were 2 roll-calls (count-off in Japanese) daily - one at
sun rise, the other befors r ng. Food was served 3 times a day con-
sisting of rice in small tin enamelled sauc about 4 inches in dlameter,
On top of the rice was placed some vegetabl Three times a day we had
camotes (sweet potatoes) on top of the rice, for a month. The next month
they changed to squash; the next month, "Kangkong", a native green. Some-
times they served radish in the noon meal and the radish leaves at night.
Occasionally, we had a cube of meat about an inch square, fried fish,
seaweeds, or small clams, On the Emperor's birthday (April 30) they gave
us one banana each. There was no sugar given us for 6 months.

@

Twice a week we were taken out into the open court for a bath.
Ve were stripped naked and used only one faucet, Evéry other afternoon
we were lined up on the corridor next to our cell for calisthenics.

Light and ventilation inside were very poor. The whole day we
had to be almost naked with only drawers or G-strings (Japanese Fundori)
because of the heat. The whole day an electric light had to be on for it
was dark,

Each cell, about 4 by 6 meters;housed about 16 to 20 people,
During the latter part of my confinement, wholesale arrest caused paclking
up to 30 people, The day before I was transferred there were 32 slceping
in my cell on the small floor space, including 2 American priests. We
scarcely had space to sleep on our sides. No pillows, blenkets, mats or
mattresses were firnished. We slept on the floor and rolled up our clothes
for pillows, Those who were sick were sometimes loaned blankets. When the
cells were all packed up, we learned that several others who could no
longer be accommodated, were placed in the old Spanish dungedéns of old

stone walls and IE¥¥ floor.

There were 16 cells, 15 for males and 1 for females and children,
The Japanese detained children less than 2 years of age and suckling babies
as hostages. At one time in ome cell there were 14 vwomen and 10 babies.
They were crying the whole day and the whole night, one is remined of a
maternity hospital. The children had the seme diet as the adults and were
occasionally allowed in the sun with their mothers, depending on the mood
of the chief of the guards on duty (Jancho).

s Dieipline and Punishments - After breakfast at 6':00 a.m,
everyone was compelled to sit on the floor, squatting with legs crossed

Tx¥g i
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| or supporting one's weight A
could stand ohly to go to the latrine
Violation of these rules gensrally called for a hand slap in
the face, lore severe cases called for beating with clubs, or the saber
\ of the guards, or beating on the head with the heels of the Japanese shoes.
A negro was boxed and slapped until he fell and then he was kicked around
until he fainted. Or one occasion I was caught talking with a cell-mate.
e were made to stand and face each and start slapping cach other until I
fell dizzy. Sometimes a guard would make an inmate stand in the middle
of the room with his hands up in the air for an hour and he would be beaten
if he put his arms dovn. One man was made to stand on his head with his
feet in the air leaning against the wall, For one hour a man was made o
assune 2 horizontal position, face downwards, ! t

his hands stretche
perpendicular to and resting on the floor supporting his body, as in the
start of a dipping eXercise. Depriving one of meals for a day or two was
also an ordinary punishment. In one case a man had no food for two weeks,
he was so weak he could not stand for questioning and had to be carried
out of the cell by his mates. For minor offenses, one was deprived of the
bathing privilege or the chance for calesthenics. An American officer, |
Capt. Joseph Barker, was confined in his cell for six momths without got-
fing out to take a bath or calésthenics. At the end of the period he was |
allowed to go out as he was getting crazy being inside all the time.

6. Investigation, Torture - A1l persons under investigation were |
called out by turns to the investigation rooms. These rooms were located |
in a building facing the Pasig River. Lach room had an investigator,
usually a non-commissioned officer, altho in more important cases |
1leutenants took charge. There were also one interpreter and one or two
mscle men". Base ball bats, golf clubs, table legs, black jack and ropes
were visible paraphernalia in each room.

Beating with a base ball bat or wooden club was a comion resort
to extract testimony and confessions. The !waber-cure" was most notorious.|
A man is made to 1lie down, a towel placed on eyes, his hands and legs
tied and a garden hose is placed in his mouth and water is pumped into his |
lungs until he choked. lFany are known to have drowned this way. Then |
one’s stomach gets filled up with water and gets bloated, they would step
on it until the water rushes out of the mouth and nostrils.

Hanging is another torture very common. A Chinese cell mate of
mine had his hends bied behind him and a rope was tied to his Lands, set
to a pulley overhead and pulled until he hung about a food from the ground. !
Fe hung for three hours. After that, his hands were paralyzed for two
months and we had to feed him as he lay helpless, his arms dead. Jui-
jitsu was a common practice and the muscle men resorted to this for
Sxercige. Grabbing their victims by the hands, they would pass them over
their should bt them on the floor and roll them to the other side
of the room. W& Could hear he cries of pain and moaning of those yhose
Pones were breeking in this manner and later we would see them caryie
Helpless and mnconscious to their cells. A Japanese msrchant named "Haki®
Was made to kneel with his shins vesting on a plece of wWood about 2 inches
wice with sharp cdges. Then he was made to hold a swivel chair high over

e e ) 1
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rith anyt) ab
ca teeth “end bis tongue and 2ad

battered when 2 soldier ooavesr iy SoR L RN im mercilessly on Sotn
cheeks W spiksd heel, For weeks he could not eat and could drink
caldivh great difficulty. A man was made to stand on a narrow piece of
wood about 2 inches wide with his heels together and toes of each foot
poluting to the opposite dirsction, outward Charlie Chaplin style. |
Taturally the tendency was Fe knoes and shins were |
SRR e G e legs straight together.

Nuisance torture, such as placing a bullet or a pencil between
the fingers and pressing ti tight was also common. Burning cigar |
or cigarette butts would be stuck into groins, unter the testicles, in
the armpits and other sensitive spots of the body., I have seen boys with
huge ulcers and itches scattered around their groins and armpits, and they

ey were cigar burns. T o hands and feet to prevent oxeapes
v'as done, and together by their hands and feet
v several da uestioning. Some Chinese
nillionares vers hendcuifed for sin nomtns before they were Teleased.

After they are satisfied with the evidence, they prepare a book- |
let in Japanese characters and the accused is made to sign and thumbmark
these booklets. ILater at the court-martial I learned they were my state-
ments and confession. Investigations may take one day and may extend to ‘
months. I have known of friends who were released the day followlng their
arrest and preliminary questiéning. In my case, it took six months, en
ended only when Col. Straughn was finally captured and had corraborated
many of the statements, I and several of my co-accused, had made. I had
lost about 60 poun

18 Hipodroo esa
Yanila, phnlppmes.
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MARILA

FREE PlllLlPPlNES

Manila, Saturday, March 3, 1945

U.S. FORGES LAND ON PALAWAN

Carrier Planes Smash Tokyo Again

Big Industrial
Area Destroyed
In City's Heart|s

squad

Germans In Full Retreat
Before e Oﬁenswe

bridgs

Vgt of Americen First and N
e

g st a2 e

ron ot U & Rowy carrler bomb. o et o oo
2 S St e, Carn h:n
o T aada i s
BE b .;lnfum“: "N A
AL E s e

aue from P
e Resauartess, summariz
e ”',.u"#mwmm i

» aing]

Camacho Lauds
Gen. MacArthur

MEXICO SITY — president
AVE G s Zongraaisted

fica than ever
Completely_prepared 1

.k
f2lu50 Pre-War Police

In [ tish heavies joined in_strong.
{acks n i i Indutrial arses

Osmena ThanksFDR
On Filipinos' Behalf
Tmmedis wy_.r_m
m‘*ﬁ&"&j e

into

Return to Duty

2 pon ihe restabl
of the .Mmm.m of e G
ry Pol, d [ ealth “of the Philippines in the
s Court. and.disposed oy of $lanin, perh e o &
pmmplly, the polce m Pthe e press to you and to the Seopte o
s

ing de-|fhe- United States the most pro-
fom 'grattude of ihe Fiiine
ded | our Tiberation.
Doort o T |7 r. Pulxdenl,‘ who,

o {our grim. daxs in
i B sloprly e

a1 5% Unitea ‘Sraen 0
and security, the pesce and happi-
of markind*

A2 e eigae) et e
Bl tone of sitanier who haye has fae reported for
formed offieors are assisted in duty. This unit is under
ks & mall gesp of Tacaester Engsio

Vet
turing_one
ek Ore crossing waa mads ¢ mdy i
&
| “Engross
where h ‘snet

estabiishing | °*%
acanan, President | ot

Seize Puerta
Princesa and

T‘.,,'ﬁ) Alrﬁelds

PARIS — Gorman forees wers rman_line,
e et e | e T Sidgabents son the | Mach
Flals Thureday befor. e mas xn et maler waier e betose e

e enemy gurrin, canght
o xwhd. n’.: "m i
HacA

Lomiiaue sayn
in"opersicns e
allea

g oo ians and. properly
prepare his defense.” o
irwe "ol Faliwan, airtame

e Mk e

fiund o ths weatern- and

i pata, Wiruh e Py

S 25 s e e

e of endmy basen 1

of resistance in
redseed to

hold

ingle holdout group in
ance. building with munvnnl
nipers being routed from

5 | wricks of sunken ships in A
Bay. Thirty-soven
Tulks

b
vt it roops
i e ahainy

el the, ity
& l“u building

| TR, ast of Montaibua

o 1 B o] it e, Sy ot
okl | N uduP ‘supported by intense
h-vg' for | tre:
wpit e Eufferings and | _The 25th
e e S o o Sacangen ) »n-nu--
e 2 B
f nem S o R A
R b ,’.'u.. 8] carhals e vt o
emacracy, be e, w ‘mecting litls enemy oppost-
i
e et
e grand and mysdes L f Two New Members of
2 oot ot the Pl poih
e | Rehabilitation Body

ader, e p""’h,“,pp.n.":;..m

10 the last pes
vly egaged n puarsl whtors
gt



Baturday, Mareh 3, 194

DECLASSIFIED _
Authoriy NayBE 278

FREE PHL..PPINES

No Place For
Collaboratora*

I tho prosont reorganisation of |

tion of
the” Contmomsalth ' Government
G local gowermental agensies,

T b given the opportunity
Uiipe inorder of thingsfor which
ey e e ke th
“Hitreme cars shou
1've sereioed tn tha
e inn, Collavoratora ety
$iThe PEAD by pates foree should
i ee alwed b continee toor
125 wnti they have b, official
Citared o aice and. the sen
e of the peope are to be
Fre bood shed b the sl
should mot be made in u(nbw
Sling a sofe and iifforent a.
i i hoe ko st
Gty thore are 1 to serve the
Commmimueaith uho were” ot
S o' die for the" Common
G,

3,039 Enrolled In

7 Reopened Schools ':

Seven_ elementary schoals have|
vty e, spned 1 e

Mo Skcording | lo Secre
T Sataw of the depariment
e instruction and informa-

i the sont

Story of Fort Santiago

T scrslo Oumata,

e the Commoneaith gor-
e abahed in S
Tl rolment in_the bigh schorls
o enila i now underway, aad

jandro Albert Blemen-

Jovarra, G.del Pilar

forgos and Tonds Ele
.

fary, P
Bonifacio, B

mentary school.

e

LEADERS OF RAID ON LUZON PRISON—Mujor Robert
Laplia el talks with one of the Fipino guerrila fighters ‘e
Pl ot Cabanatuan prisem,comp near Cab, 25 miles b
L Tapanche line, Jamary 40, Tho 596 quorrilas and 151 U, 3,
e aiad wwor 400 war pisnars, (hen 1k guarvils, s
Maj. Lapham, formed o rood-block whish held off 100be gng.
i S L4 e M s b 1 4 e of 1,

him | ga
.| for uab, b7
o Americsn.

e
Anothcr eirman, Eying an Ar
iy made a Toresd Tanding on ke
T mpuntain-side about & month
Tater, 2 he'got out of his

re | "They brought him

e and milk
i chicken, food they. had saved.
200 e their starved Shildsen, the

Sivmn tld then to_ give the
| Sand o the.

"tood
oung ones. o

Borotei
the _evening
25 s of the mayor

Slow Gains On Iwo.
GUAM.

s g
e Timited:

jest Says Mindanao
Pt rappod Selves




DECLASSIFIED
Authority NAQEE 2878

2057 Ascarrags
Manila

To whom it may concern;
1 Emenst Stanley (British subject, missionary)

presently employed by the U, S. Office of War Imformation, form-
erly interned at the Sento Tomas Imternee Camp where T acted as
interpreter for the Internes Committes, do hereby stete that to
my knowledge it was the custom and practice of the Japanese Mili- :
tary Police (Kempei) to arrest and carry off persons, the where-

abouts and disposal of whom they never devulged any imformstion.

@&



as apprehended by a Japanese Military Police in plain
cloth nl the intersection of Andalucia and Requesen streets in the
morning of August 17, 1944. My hands tied behind me and was
brought to Fort Santiago. There I was tied to a post and was
left alone until past midnight when three Japanese, one supzosed
to be my interpreter, the other who apprehended me and one who

was very much intoxicated with liqeour brought me to a small

room with a table and two cheirs. I was asked to place all my
possesions on the table and to stand firm,

Accusation against me were as follows:

1. That I traffic in firearms for guerillas.

2. That I am repairing radio equipments of
the guerillas.

3. That I am commnicating with the guerillas
located in the islands of Cebu, Iloilo
and Davao. I was asked to produce the
radio transmitter and receiver I have
been using,

4. That according to their spies I am aiding
the guerillas.

5. Thet I am an officer of the guerillas and
vanted to find out the name of my organi-
zation, its whereabouts and the names of
all members.

6. That I am hiding en American friend and
would like to know where he i

After that, the drunken Jap tied my hands behind my back
again and hoisted the other end of the rope to one of the rafters
and pulled it thus dangling me about one foot from the floor. In
this condition, questions were lashed at me and before I could
answera 3"X3"X24% inches mahogany block was spplied to me mercilessly.
Hitting me at will and wihout much ado until the mahogany block
broke in two, After almost two hours of continuous questioning and
beating the interpreter dropped me down end removed the rope that
bound my hands. Neddless to say, I could not stand and my body vas
numbed all over. I was dragged to an sdjoining chember and a Jap
sentry kept vigil on me while the three Japs were performing another
brutally to an unfortunate one like me.

At sbout three o'clock in the morning I was directed to a
cell . For five days I have been nursing my wounds and swollen limbs,
I could not stand nor move my left arme. My face, and my whole

body had swollen considerably and ached with pain. e cell I

was in was numbered Three. This, was one of the sixteen cells in

a row, Heware twenty-eight persons of three nasbkonalities. The
cell was approximstely four by eight meters. In the far end of

the cell we have a small feucet at the left and at the right we

have our latrin,

&)
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ame: latrin was w
‘bars of the cell has screen wire (messhed wire) all over an
too was covered with dirt and dust so practically air was impossible
to penatrate through. We were all depending on a small opening
where e usually reach for our retion on meal time for a bit of
fresh air, we cell it. We have electric bulb of 20 watt on the
ceiling end this was on 24 hours a day. After the elasped of five
deys I was again summoned to appeer and unswer my case Nos. 2-3-4
This time I was mgman not hanged by the hand but I was made to
ley on my beck to e long ledder tying my both hands and feet and neck
egaingt the ladder and raised it in a reversedepisbtion and in the
inclined position, On this condition the interpreter keep on pouring
question one after the other for over an hour until finally a smell
towel was pleced én my face end holding my mouth tight and begen
pouring water all over my face especially in my nose until I suffo-
cated.

This brutel treatment vas done deme three time between
questions. On the third I lost conciousness. lhen I opened my
eyes I found myself lying on & wornout native mat and I vas
no longer tied to the ladder. The Jap officer lead me to my cell.
After three days I wes egein called to answer cese Nos. 5-6 vith
the seme treatment as of Nos. 2-3-4 , In addition I wes not given
food for a period of five days. The last three investigationsuas
es bad as my previous investigation, After several days in cell
No. 3 I was trensferred to sell No.13. This place vas musi uowe
smaller than No.3 end yet we were 26 to 32 in numbers at times,
since political prisoners "came and go" in Fort Santiago.

Here in Fort Sentiago I saw General Lim and some of his boys.
General Baja and his entire family, Lt.Jose Flores, (the officer
who went to Mindanao to meet the American submarine and received
his order.) I have no news of them now,

After a month of confinement that was eround the middle of
September we noticed that our rations vere reduced considerably
to one half of & seucer daily . Since I beceme a prisoner our
food daily had never been changed and comprised the following:
Morning meal - Rice porridge, with some sliced sweet potatoes.
Noon meal - Boil rice with sweet potatoes.

Supper mesl - Same as noon meal.

s usual ve were allowed &bout a minute bath daily either
in the morning or in the afternoon. This time seldom ve could take
& bath end if ve happen to do, ten seconds was long enought for
each person, Beginning September 20th, our food was irregular.

Ve seldom get three meals o day, Several times we have to be con-
tented with 1ittle grain of salt and about s glass full of vater
each time we feel hungry, The salt wes the only possession we

can have in the cell as it wes retioned twice or sometime thrice

in a week and was about three or four pinch each person, I still
_do rembmber we were given on three different occasions food burned
out like cinder and several times deteriorated food which was
presumably cooked tvo or three days ago were also given to us

Ve
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In ny two and a half months of confinement in Fort Santiago,
I got contaminated with all kinds of skin deceases as we do have
persons vith tuberculosis, syphilis, dysentery, wounds obteined from
brutel treatment and became gengrened, and lots of other sickness
which I do not knov how to describe.

I came out from the gate of Fort Santiago on temporary
1iberty on November 3rd, 1944,

> A
AN m
ANDRES D. STSON

/
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ARMY HEADQUARTERS
AFO 501
28 geptember 1945

HEMORANDUM -
G- 1, HPA

On compliance with your Memo dated 21 geptember
1945, I submit the following report for transmittal to
lir. Henry lajewskl, Representative, Recovered Personnel
Diviglon, GHQ, AFPAC, for his information and such use
he may make of my statements:

I wag arrested from my office in the Tagapama-
nitan at Tulong Sa Madla (Llalson and Public Asslstance
gervice) a civilian office under Japanese control af
the Metropolitan Theater Bullding on or about 3300 PM,

14 February 1944. I was not surprised because I belong
legitimately to the underground movement as a member of
the Maharlika Guerrilla Unit, as a Special Intelligence
Agent of Brigadier General lateo M. (Capinpin and of Nr.
Enrico Pirovano, who was a member of the Esplonage Group
of Brigadier General Manuel Roxas, Senator Jose Ozamis
and Mr. Juan Ellzalde and a Propagandist of the 34th
Divigion (still unrecognized). When, therefore, Senators
Ozamls, Mr. Juan Elizalde and Mr. Pirovano were arrested
ahead, I knew something Was gding to nappen to me, I
destroyed all ineriminating records, warned others who
were going to be implicated and was preparing to go to
the province to hide (in fact I sent my wife anead to
the province already) when the Kenpei Tal (Japanese 1ili-
tary Police) caught up with me.

1y personal experience and obgemvation, dur:
my three montns confinement in Fort Santiago, February 14
to May 15, 1944, convinced me beyond any doubt that Fort
Bantiago lg a torture chamber used to extort information,
1y_case 1g a typlcal ingtance. Immedlately upon my arri-
val and after my personal data was taken, I Was made to
strip my shirt and undershirt so that I was uncovered
from walst up. On the table before me Were placed a pig-
tol, a big rope (abaca), a wide leathor belt and a big
etlck one and a half (1}) inches tlmee one and a half (1)
about a yard long. I was told by my investigator that -
they were not responsible for my life if something hap~
pened to me if I did not tell them what they wanted me
o tell, They whipped me on my bare back three (3) timeg
before they fired any questions. Then they commenced

: A )
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BASIC: IMemorandum fr Captein Aurelio L. Lucero, 4GS,
Qnief, AG-OP, HPA APO 501 dtd 28 gept 45 sent
to G=1, HPA re prisoners in Fort Santiago.

asking. I had previously made up my mind Wwhat to tell
them and I stuck to my resolution. answers were, T
knew, very unsatisfactory to them because I falled to

- give fhem the angwer they wanted and the information
they sought. It is no exaggeration to say that every
question Was preceded by beating witn the stick, whinping
with the leather belt, boxing, Eicking and threats of the
pigtol, Both my invectigator and his interpreter vied
With each other in inflicting corporal punismment on me,
I was brought after 6:00 PI that day to my cell, a 5-
meter by 6-meter dark room, inaccessible to any ray of
light the wnole day, already occupied by twenty (20)
other people ahtead of me. I Was not given food that
evenlng. I was given instructions by other prisoners
regarding the behavior and conduct expected of me.

About 8:00 PM, I was brought again for question-
ing. I gave the same answWers because the questions were
the same and I got the same punishpents, only they showed
more cruelty, I was returned to the cell at 11400 PM with
& blg black left eye struck by the buckle of the belt when
I vas whipped on the nead and face. There Was no chance
5o avold or evade being struck as my.hands were, tied at
the bagk, I wae kicked on my belly so hard for a period
of two (2) weelke, the bruilse in the form of a foop-print
could be seen everytime I gtripped for bath.

I was taken out again on the following day to
the Investigation Room. Hach subject was investigated
in a separate improvised cell., Across neighboring parti-
tlons, you can hear the cries of palns, groans, shouts,
touds of thick bars agalnst beaten bodies, curses and
all kinds of admixtures of expressions of migery and pein,
Tnere were cries of old men, of young men, of women and
of boys in theiriteens'. (Later I met some twenty (20)
boys aged from thirteen (13) o slxteen (16) at the lNew
Bilibid Prisons, luntinglupa, Rizal)s My second day of
investigation was a repetition of the first day.

iy toird day wae the climax of my physical

punignment. Thls time they were bent on breaking me down,
I vas kicked, rolled on tne floor, stepped on, beaten with
bat, whipped, JuJitsued gtill without their £etting what
they wanted. Finally, they tied my bande behind by my
toumbs, wound the rope about my bedy and tied algo my feet
together and hanged me with my toew not touching tne floor.
The greatest straln was imposed on my thumbe and arme.

For one (1) hour, I was thus. hanging ay I was quegtioned.
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BASIC: Memorandum fr Captain Aurello L, Lucero, AGS,
Chief, AG-OP, HPA APO 501 dtd 28 gept 45 sent
to G=1, HPA re prisoners in Fort Santlago, :

They Gid not stop kicking me either; After one hour of
such punisbment, I Was brought to the floor and I cquld
not move my arme for a long time. It took more than a
nonth for my thumbs to go back to normal after tnat witn
nageaging applied almost hourly, Iverytime one of us
arrived in the cell after investigation,.we would show
wnat we recelved from.the investigators. Here are some
of the punishments recelved by others personally witnessed
nown by me by the physical injury seen on the,

8. I sa¥.a prisoner whoge body was full
of cigarette burns gll over from face to foot.

. Seversl in our rooms were denied for
periods varying froin 5 days to 21 days.

v ¢. T saw evidence of a prisoner having been
nade /to kneel on the snarp edges of a board lald
on edge, - ¥

I talked with others who told me aRouts:
. a. Being charged with electrieity.

b, Being pumped with water and when bloated,
they jumped on him. I remember that a cell-mate
of mine, Dr. Musngl was asked to see a Woman
anotner cell, lMlsg Ester Belarmino, a cousin of
gpeaker Pro Tempore Prospero Sanidad of our Natienal
Asgembly, who could not eat. She could ngt eat be-
cauge she Was badly beaten up. ¢

We were made to sit the whole day on tne floor in tne
Japanege way with legs crossed. stretehing of legs was
forbidden; leaning on the walls o even on your arms Was
taboo. gilence was strictly observed. Lying hours wag
from 7300 Fi to 7300 All, Even when awake,%Were.not per-
nitted to sit up. At night, Wwe got tired of lying down
and at daytime of sitting in one monotonous position,
Food was diminighed solentifically in quantities almost
unnoticeable but waleh you cannot.fail to notice after a
long stey

G et o e



BASIC: Memorandum fr Ceptain Aurello L. Lucero, 4GS,
Ghier, AG-OP, HPA 4PO 501 dtd 28 gept 45 sent
to G-1, HPA re prisoners in Fort Santiago,

Prigoners’ in Fort Santlago are dlsposed as
followe:

a. A Tew ave liberated.  Hven the most
innocent (thig is true in 1944) had to stay at
least three (3) months inside.

b. A few are 1iquia_ted in the course
of ‘nvestig,at;on Tne fellow Just dlsappear.

ny are sent to the 0ld Bilibid
Prisons Building at the compound facing the Far
Eastern University Building. From my experience,
those wno have prima facie evidence on thelr cases
are sent to 01d Bilibid Prisons to We.it disposition
by a Court Martial,

4, ' Thoge left benind never showed up
eltner in the 01d Bilibld Prigons or at the New
Billbid Prisons at Nuntinglupa. Some died of slck-
ness (mostly a product or result of malnutrition)
but I believed most were liquidated.

Those brought to the 0ld Bilibid Prigons are dls-
posed similarly,

he group I was, ls a typieal group. It con-
sigted of about ninety people among them prominent’per-
sons, including: .

1 - Hon. Jose Ozamis, Senator
2 - Mr. Jusn Elizalde, a millionaire,
brother of the former Resident Com=
missioner,

- Kr. Enrico. Pirovano, milllonalre =
Manager, De la Rama Bteamship Co,

- Mr. Cirilo B. Perez, Librarian,
Buregu of Sclence.

Father Rufino J. Bantos, Secretary
Archblghop of the Philippines,

fr. Virgillo Lobraget, Manager,
Elizalde Rope Pactory.

~ Qapt. lManosa of President Quezon's
Yatcn "Casiana'.

N G

N o woa @
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BASIC: Memorandum fr Captain Aurelio L. Lucero, AGS,
Chief, AG-OP, HPA APO 501 atd 28 Sept 45 sent
G-1, HPA re prigoners in Fort Santiago.

gol. Atanacio, PA,

Col. lanuel B. EInriquez, PA.
Capt. Nlestor Reinoso, Pa,

1lst Lt Tnomas Acep, PA.

3
i
PO

RN (N

12 - ur. Rafael Roces, Jr., newspaper
columnist.
13 -Nx fanuel E. Agullla, Author.
1¢ - wife of a prominent pastor,
WE 2

16 - Dr. Darby.

17 - Two (2) Sleters of the Merry Kmoll
Orders.

18 - Mr. A. Maximlano Ragon, Personnel
Qfficer, Bureau of Education.

19 - ir. Salvador, Academic Supervigor,
\ Bureau of Education.
\ 20 - Capt, Gepte.
\vzl ~ Lt Francisco de Leon.

22 ~ Lt Yap.

We were all tried, elghty nine of us, two having previously
dled, on August 25, 1944, No sentence Was read in open
court. In fact the whole day was devoted to reading for
charges for each and everyone of us. liany collapsed in
the courtroom because they were sick and weak.

The day following, they secluded in,three (3)
enall cells about 46 of us. They were kept inside and:
were strictly guarded to avoid any pogsible commnication
Wwith them. Then they were talten out from the Old Bilibid
Prisons on September 1,.1944 and since then, thore had
never been a trace of them. Of those listed above, only
Tos, 5, 18 and 19 came out allve because they were not

in the group taken out that day. Later in the New Bilibid
Prisons No. 19 also dled of malnutrition,

Fron tlue to.time as prisoners arrived in the
New Bllibld Prigons where I was sent $o serve® a £ifteen-
yeare imprisonment for Anti-Japanese activities, I queg-
tloned them gbout thoge left behind in Fort Santlago,
They told me of cell mates who were kept there without
being informed of charges. I never met apy of them since.
They must have died there, killed without account ing,

This 1s ouéydanblnggaquute deseription of a part

rience, ndoubte more detall
Tevealed under otimilation of Gheesionisg 15 Coiid be

N
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BASICS orandum £ Captain Aurelio L: Lucefo, AGS,
gnief; AG-OP; HPA APO 501 dtd 28 Sept 45 sent

to G=1; HPA ro prisoners in Fort Santizgo.

would enxlously sudmit-in order to bring kignt on many
Phages of the hell that Was-'Fort Santlagol.

I almost for@ot to
rtial for a definite
guarantee that one'g life ig
spared. For it 1s a fact that in the New ‘Bilibid ‘Pri-
sons 1n Muntinglupa, for no reason st all except that
thelr whims eo uctq:’ ,; they executed shooting more
than thirty-five (35 ‘ulltar‘\'
ranged frcm 15 years 140 1ife ix
@y life to relate this history only because I Was reported
t0 have dled of slckness previcucly and my name and iden-—
tity changed in the records of tae au of Prisons.

I was spared

AURELTO L. Luoife]

Captain, AGS,
Ghlef, Officers! Section, AGO.
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T was ten by the Japanenc Militnry Police from

s houge, s 413, kpolda, Faeo, miln, Gzt

Fobrunry'2, 1944. 3y arms more ticd hehind mo and I wna

atzuok befro oy wife am ch

and oy mouth s ing vl
o Tort

on. My face was swollen
n thoy took me awny in a
Tivo other pooplo, three men
on, Wworc in the snmo track with me under
hoavy sunrd, /

t Fort gantinz, wo wora questioned, finger
priston ang lodged in different golls. ( TNAA Tyosae in
Coll Mo, 5 whoro in tho #2011 inz.ornime T found thore
wore £ive Jnpamaac nd nim Filipian persomers. . Tho
Japoncae prisomrs wore ziven priveleges of extra
rotions. Thoy could talk pmong thomsolves in low tomen
oven when thero wore gunrds arquml. Thoy were ompoverod
o punich #1ipino prisoners for talking or for making
4ign f9 one amothor. The Japanose prisomera insulted
and punighod ns at will. fe cmld mot defond suraclves
Legouoe the Jnpanose had the guards o back them up and
punish us if we did. Th/a Japanene prigoners would push
and kiek us. hen wo became very orowded in the ecell,
somo of ug had to aleep n tho toilet.

103 horged with active souborship in the
guszilin fozgos, hidlu cmaies o2 tho Japugac capive
and_aistribut ing radio news. I was ueationed during
my first two dayo in Fort Sntiago, ngain for two. days
about two weoks laber, and 2imlly bout the last aay

of Maxch or firat day of Apr

T30 Mandenzton durizg ay fizat dmvortigmtion,
‘boxed, kicked, nnd sovere: ton with a Japa)
woodoh swerd [ussd fox Jammese fomoing)y 5o
investigntor nnd hin interprotor ohewad s morcy mm_
aoevor for me. My invemtigntor would harshly a;
queation and before his imberpretor could fi. ‘llh
queation, he would hit me on all par n

& with hia wolen sword. The Sapanse’ Feneits
aword s covored with bamboo otrips nmd whon used to hit
omoone makps plonty of moise. The edge of the bamboo
atrips cut into my flesh and I had euta And contussions
GL over 7 body,  Aftor th sirat fow bastirga

o tho poiat of unuon:aiwuanw ¢
an tha Japnmae were benting me but T folb mo pains
T Z613 a4 the Wiser moverol tiaen Jut speh iine

oot iwoqtiz'\ti
Y
m9 whon dnvestigatora in 1)
edjnimng 0980 MBS ¢ investigntor nna canwi,
“ L:'\med by l‘nﬂ henvy p\xmqlirx I redeive
;v

7w1cw
WO
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before and the third Japan
17 x 27 x 4, Bofore ack

o hold o wooten pl'\nk
nny

th.on,
oy b oy 13

i

ihzoo Jnpineae gave me the mordt o3
2 was. bat S 3 uhuh ‘thoy stopped to ask
glve thon t

: laetitity oi v comphniets 1n ik gumrinq
G50 eriiens aniiiihics, ey wanted b t
vhethor my buremt directors (2ublic Instruot

nt. I
n T persona who
ongnged in guorrilla ond propagailn activities

Seioit o Tevaess. T s ni divalge to them the
ahoronbouto of Monard. Go Punn Seng (Publisher Fookion
Chinese Chamber of
and in Ipo, Noza;\gmny.

Tiies) and C. C. Young (Gen. soc
Commerce) who were

patndts
Iaat benting.

Dhis odrporal punishiment whids cansed tho denth of .

mny guerrilleros is not the only kind moted out by il
Erigoners woroe oyatemyiionlly atorved. shese
during ow detention in Fort Snntiago, at the
oity dail and in Mantinlupn whon our zation Was ewtdown

almeat nothirg. Ve wel to b sivan :mna :.mlt in
Tork Santingo to oat with owr rico. I
Fau; it W wovs avin malt 1 oot Sy utrle hon
oy atopped glv:
linlt.  On the protoxt that The WAtaT wan posaenedy i
Japnese gunzda ot the 61ty Jail prohibited us Lrom
drinking wator £or oyer n weok, They promined to give
4g ton for dxinking but thote woro Gayy wien We wete not
given a drop of ten. At the oity jail many priaoners
contracted dinhrren and dysomtory. Burned rico aonked
in vater is claimed zood for Ainhrren, Whothor thin ia
#Tu0 or ot the 1ittle ploce of burmed rice (tutong
was o woloome nddition o our amall ration. ‘The anmm!o
gunrds lenrned to et tutong and mo more tutong w
miven to ua.

pon orders from investigntors thore weve prisomrs

is am Snntingo who woro not given food for n pevind of

8 10 0 or mora dhyn. devesal of my companioms Tponived
ihio punidhment, and we c'\ntribntnﬂ 1ittle from our ratisn
0 zive to them when ihe suards wore mt nround. One
American prisone? who was not given £20d for o mumber
o7 dnys folt ao wenk that ho could mot walk to the invea~
‘tigation room. He had to crawl on his hands end feot ag £
he Wng puahed, kiaked a1 driven by the Hpongsh guarda.
I believe that follaw diod.

At tie the 8

2 tnlking 1o ondh ofher, There was omo
Ssgk.zound. ion fation wns peisE AAetaibeod,
o Prisems i not falk yut tarned to fnoo muotkar
pripomer, his ratian wowld be token from him, the zunrd
wonid onf the, sntieh in BIL )k ed tho pz-iuomr’ml
the anpty 44ah would be returnod to the Drisener,
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&t Juntinlupa whove £ood from fam tho
priaonsra more at tines perm 3 tod ta B0 om-v,m inaide
the prigom, the Japnn ards ot the entranco would
t T hey wamwr H‘c fnod. the mord o the 'nrx.,qde

t o ahrwe Jenving the prigoner what £t

i
al

M., gunr
Uitoront beipndon ol c’vr‘h Bonto memy, olgnrott
ATTod Fosd of tho priupmts. Primnorh fx

nozo onaf 1 Daniihod by tho mards
cigarotlion gonted from prisoners in tho nepiaL
were ,31«\11 ho misonprs in the brizndes.

i

The donth rate of onors ia X

pris antdnlupa duc to
zvation wan appalling, It averagol

more thon twenty

The besting siven me was not the only kind o
pumishont given 10 prigonors in Fort santingo nnd the
‘Bolow nre nccounts related 1o me by fellow

era - Iuzon Brokoznge Co, Ho hnd o big cub
on the T3 e thruat of n riffle
putt. Throe 5 riba wore smashod in and he had
ey ahod cad o sntagaions on hiy Dt
ho was not thon killed by the Japano:
his 1istle duighter b yooro old Mitnoased tho brutal
punighnont and killing of American polddier in
one of the dungeon cells at "ort santiaze.

The mldier wnd cousht wiih guorrillorss. o woa

takcen info tho oell w o Mrs. lyers 'md hor 1ittle girl
wore locked. Two rmn mards, nnd on officer atruek
the Ancrican with 0%He Butta,  Tho “Amox oan Who Dndly

Dattored, his eyeballs went out of thoix aocketd, ho wha
dom o mu Tioor groping helplesslys Sianlly he waa

hended by tho officer. Jrs, Myord and Anughtor ho wit-
e vevyining woro mado to sleep in the nane coll.

Junn Eliznlde - He wnp my oompanion in Oell Xo. B,
Fort gimtiage. 1B tho firot month, ho was ealled o the
faveatization zoom, mocning, aftorhson nnd ovening for
27 favs. Ho was tortwed nnd hin body.was brulued, Ha
waaf% imoel on pevbles nt om time for an haut while ho

outatretohod awm. Any tim fhe arm went down ho re-
ceived n bonting

Gorporal punishgedt wos moted 0lso o women
prigencra in Fart Snutiags. Thero wna o youss lady whe
Ly g i Hoic

“She monmod A tho whole nmight snd for dayn. ‘sh.
Beeame sick and T ba]!f‘vc ahe st Inve Aed. MHra.
Magy By siogz wno alge tordiby punishod. Sho £ot a ik,
hmigh fever and kept nuking far wm,,' But ﬂm Tetaoz gl
s et st givo Jox water 8 wﬁ
salizent o¢ mdicine wan siven to bt puuam

.1‘
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companion wns o
i \t]«!eh wag lator used in 7
food @r ome weok.

s fingora and pro:
a hal? ineh G.I. pipo.
put 1 he sugh

i 1{-11"\7" Lego u of
Fits Tiontinod s o e

waoden

o5 of "wator curc" Were used by the
st ingo nnd“the oiiy jnil. In omes
 mbber tute a mon's throat
ense, n
whilo lyizg on
an cuply sack
" P0p nrbin e 1 ans
2 h a9 Tonavod Trom his fco and
Fa it e ognined somsesouaness. Bvory
tins ho Bave n togativa mower (ho pes6an Wna ¥apontods

on his

The omersion of prisonors in drumy of wator caused
the deaths of gomo prigonezs. nars dv not die from

'+ compmniona who Wore given
2t Santiago died in Muntinlupa.

Fort smting mnd may kinds of madgety usod for
axtorting confonsions from whr peidsnes 2 120m0r0 who
wero taken fo Port santinzo in Navembor fnd naumno: 1944
including sur compnions who were left thero wor.
promumbly cxeontod Toomsoe nom came out to Yell what
had happened,

oo wra an exoduo of prisencta taken 1o the
oity nia bos ivguat 1ot yonr. Every coll wna
Siro1] N et fmny bad to ulm 'ﬂttlm-
Inveatigatiom wont onnight anl day am
am erying of prison@s from torturo and i ai
be hoavd throwghout day and nights

Wo know bout 150 prisohers in the oity ¥oil weve
exomtad lato Novesber lnot yoat. 4 companion who wag i
omong the laat

Ouards grme inta the tnilor shop to wipo frosh bloo
atain; from their swords with ploces of oloth, -

1= Litfonl ﬁisun- L Mantinlup e soheduled
i, _Fobrunry 3

tnko) u ;3
tructed fo bring ovm:yYhing they. ma,
puld bo tranaforred to mwtho
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had h"»pxzcne to the ten misoners.

Th pards told c would be mo shooting on
sundny, Bobe Ath, but imsotinfely nftor bronkfngt they
gullod nmes. Nimoteon waro taken ad meshod fo Camp

Several of this mumber able to escap
ini'v 1hc canal before the 'Vﬂdir‘r'} could fire nnd lw}(\i.mv in
the woods. Eleven 1‘»5 ne v 0 were called in A
moon (Fob, 4th) had thoir hmds tied mocuroly behind neu
Dback before thay wore marched to Comp 3. Thoy wore all
ahot dond.

We know thon t}m\- m wore nll fo be oxeauted. e
wero 1ike md dogs in cclls. e were planning f£or a
w33 ogonpo, | TAL mght wo alept with Shooo ARL overything
rondy for fhe coming of ho guerrillns who would come to
free us. The Japanose mwt havo gotton wind of our inton-
tion. They Xept the light on the whelo might mnd doubled
the guarda.

The following morning, we loarned tho Amordcnns Were
in Monila nnd’the Jammge soldiers in Muntinlupn wore
leaving., Thoro wng tonrful rejoicing among the prigonors

2 %

Dizootor of Prigon told us wo wero frocmen and could go
home. Many of wi gathered in silenmt prayor to thank GOD
for our deliverance,

Ve vere released from Muntimlupa Fetruary 5, 1945.
After spending a week in a rreend's house, I walked homs to
Lenila vith enother friend. lie spent thres days on tae way
and when we arrived in kanila, we found our homes butmen: T
found two of my children, a son and a daughter Riving with
friends in Tondo. They céme from our farm in Ipo Norssgsray
Bulacen where they evacuated with their mother, bro 7
sisters late 1n Decenbor 1944. The Japances ejbcted g vl
n Ipo, confiscated food sturr, chickens, four cera-

b-n-, R cows,  two horses and even our dogs.

Jiy wife, four children, three grand children and mother—
{o-law were cut off by the Jepanese who would not permit them
to g0 to the lowlands. They |ent ¥ith the barrio people to Lhu
mount.;l s house in Ipo ‘burned by the Japenese
family 4 1 missing. I'yent to search for then seversl tives
and I have nade reparations to leal a 8earch party October 5
5 ocomb the mountains for the miscing nsmhers of my family,

- PN e

27 September 1948,
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» IRINEO BUENCONCEJO, Colonel, (PA), ASN 0-1027, 58 yesrs old,
merried, residing at 2432 Isagani St., Menila, efter leving been duly
sworn sccording to law, depose and say:

That at the outbresk of the war, I vas the Assistant Chief
of Staff, G-1, PA; that on or about 20 Dec M1, T vas directed
by the Chief of Staff to orgenize the Minti-Sabotage Regiment';
that on or avout 2l Becember 41, the "Anti-Sabotage Regiment re~
lieved two Constabulery Regiments of their duties in guarding
militery and vitel civil installations in Manila end the concem-
tration camps vhere Jeps civiliens were concentrated; that on
26 December L1, the Oity of Menila wes declared an "Open City"
and the Anti-Sabotege Regiment under my comrand was ordered by
the Chief of Staff to remain in lenila to perform police duties;
that efter the entry of the Japs on the evening of 2 Jen U2, I
vas telen by the Jeps Kempei tut wes allowed to return to my of-
fice at midnight after I had convinced them that I vas left in
the city to protect the inhabitents thereof from lewless elements;
that after the entry of the Japs meny of my mem excaped end only
about 500 officers and men Temained; that on 3 Jan 42, the Chief
of the Kempei, Col. Ohte, directed me, after we vere disarmed, to
continue our dutiee as police officers; that on 31 Jan 42, the
Regiment vas disbanded but I vas, together with severel renking
Constabulary Officers who were attached to my Regiment, directed
to_remain on duty and orgenize the Buresu of Constebulery and on
2 Feb U2, I was appointed First Aseistant Director of the Consta-
‘bulary.

That during the months of Jemuary, February, March and kpril,
42, with the help of Col. Guido end Cept. Villafrie of the Intel-
ligence Division, PO, who were also left in Menila and atteched
to my Egiment, I secured informetion of some value to our forces
in Corregidor and Bateen and transmitted such information thru
lajor Rueda, who is now in the United: States.

Thet meny officers who escaped from the "death march® end
later engeged in guerrille or underground resistance movement ac-
tivities came to see me for advise.

That I made errangedments with the Executive Officer of the
San Lagero Eospital for the accommodation of the sick soldiers
who esceped from the Death March, having brought there for treate
ment end hospitalization several of them. .

That unfortunately, my activities have been found out by the
Kempei end early on the moming of 19 July 42, I wes arrested by
Kempeis under comnand of & Ceptain Hanasi (my home searched) to-
gether with my son Oscer, a corporal who manage to escape from
the "Death March", end my nephew, Tomes Inocencio,
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That upon arrivel et Fort Santisgo we were separated. I was
tagged on my shirt and after removing my belt, I was shoved into
room No. 2, sbout 10' x 14! where ebout eleven persons were confine
Before entering the room I found out that Col. Guido, Capt Villafria
(and two other officers of my Regiment who were released after 2-1/2
nonths) Senator Rodriguez end his son, Governor Rodriguez were also
arrested.

The cell wes poorly ventilated and dark that a 10 watt bulb had
to be kept lighted dey end night, At the Northwest corner there was
a hole in the floor about 8" x 16" in which a metal basin vas kept for
toilet, The basin was not blg enough to contain the urine, etc, of
ten men for 12 hours and as it ves emptied only every morning the con-
tents used to overflow. This with the stench of dirty bodies was Just
00 much for anyone to endure that when I entered that cell I thought
1'd suffocate. lature, however, adjusts itself thet after two or three
weeks I became "part of it". At the Northeast corner was another hole
with en inverted faucet avout 4" below the floor level where the guests
could drink by lmeeling down and bending down end drink water as ckick-
ens do. Here we used to wesh our hands end faces also and due to scanty
ration of toilet peper, only four pieces each per day, many had to wash
their buttocks after using the toilet lest perticles of dirt be left on
their drawers which would meturelly incresse the body aromas After two
hours two other prisomers vere stuffed in that room - a totel of 1} in
& place small enough for sevens

The prisoners vere made to sit on the floor with the feet closed
together, lnees at the height of the chinm, hends clasped together below
the knees; no telking, no looking around, allowed to stend only when
going to the toilet or drinking hole; no leaning sgaint the walls Vio-
Tation of amy of these would mesnt slapping or kicking - mot only of the
Yiolators but all the prisoners in the room. I was slepped several times
that vay. Sitting as above described is from lreveille! to ebout 9 Pe
Buttocks of prisoners beceme black and calloused and, I supposed, if
continued for yeers, prisoners would develop "monkey seats's

There was no clothing nor blankets issueds lVeny prisoners, epecial-
1y those arrested at night ceme in with only their undershirts and drew-

they had to come in the clothing they had at the time of their arrests.

We had to sleep on the floor like sardines = some had to lie down
over the toilet covers and over the cover of the drinking hole. With

the 1ight on, the howling of victims in the torture chambers nearby,
specially the gagping of those under weter cure (investigations conduct=
ed dey end night) the kicking of horses in the stables close to the walls
of the cells, the stumping of boots on the floors by haughty Kempeis, the
\hipping and slapping, the engry voices of the investigators, made sleep
impossitle for new comers, let slone the worry and fear of the fate avait-
ing him, They would open the cell door violently at night and call out

& prisoner for investigation; some of them I learned later never came
Dack ~ might have been Teleased OF ..
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Prisoners as e Tule were kept in Fort Santiago only for two or

tiree months bub there were two cases I kmew of a prisoner who had

Deen there for more than seven monthe - forgotten, until by accidsnt :

they were moticed and set free - "sorry, sorry, Mistake". My son Oscar

was releesed after two months, but my nephew, Tomas Inocencio, who had

no fault at all except that he was under my care was relessed after

three months, After the investigation of e completed the

prisoner (if he survived) wes trensferred to Bilibid Prison to aweit

Court sertial trial.

During fhe first month of my stay there we were not given bath mor
taken mn to sunlight, efter that we were taken out of the room once &
ath wnder a faucet - with only five minutes time for all the
inmates of o peoom ! W et 5t e rash or else!

Tood - a seucerful of rice, often times imporperly cooked, on top
of vaich ves 2 spoonful or two of eithel “Dolled Mcancong" leaves or
"gabi® leawes which is irritating whem,properly cooked - for brecifast,
lunch, and dimmer, On several occasiof®¥e hed "tullal shells over our
Tice - with no "tulle! meets - but we vere glad of the water in yhich
it was boiled soaked in the rice. On rare instances we were given a
smell amount of fish - but meat and fork mevers

To haircut - xen wao have been there for over three months were dn-
recognizable. I had grown a goatee and a long Kaiser Bill's mustache.

On my vat out to the investigation room I noticed a group of four
persons tied with vire together back to back forming a circle; they were
on their way to a torture chember proceeding thereto, urged by the blovs
of & Xempei ~ like crebs. I have not seen them returned to their chambers.
This was about August, 1942.

On several occasions, I noticed pﬂnuners on their wey to their
cells naked, with their backs "Blue and Red" due to severe beatings.

was charged for esni ", listening to foreign
and. circulati.ng "false rumors' and heading the guorrillas in Nanila iy
investigation lastod thres woeks including the wrlting of my blography.

They had sufficient evidence sgainst me that it was useless to deny.

I vas almost tortured, however, vhen they were forcing me to complicate
other officers of the Constabulary, and civil pupoet officials includ~
ing Secretary Vargas. I was investigated in different torture chembers
where I saw evidence of the deviltry used in forcing confessions. The
floors were spotted with bloods

Two prisoners, one of them was Mpmuel Fruto who wes charged with
PPropagande" at first stahitly denied to reveal his companions despite
untold tortures, became crazy affer two months in Fort Sentiago. He
used to shout at any time, specially at night, and on one occasion the

came out, mede him it down and gave him & severe kick on the chest
thst he foll beckwards. Later he was shouting egain and in his ravings,
ned the name of his companion "Raul Manlapse" - who was arrested
,he fonm,mg day. (Venleplls was sent to Mintinglupe Prison - rescued -
end is now a nevs reportef in Jepan with the Army of Occupation).

.3
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Ledy prisoners, including Miss Rayminda Guidote and lrs. Baja
(vho w@® teken because they could not find Col Baja) were also
crovéed in one cell — end vere treated just as enyome of us - no
consideration of eny kind.

The inmates in the cells Prequently vary in number but the con-
gostion is Just temporarily relieved when others ave telen out for
Telease or otherwise, as new prisoners would certainly £ill up the
epace. If they ceme in handcuffed, the irons were not removed till
after one or two dayss One was shoved in, badly bruised and bleeding
Vith the hendcuffs on end hod to adjust himeelf in that condition for
two days before they removed the hemdcuffs.

On 27 Oct 42, about 50 of us prisomers including Semator Rodriguez
and his son Governor Rodriguez, Col. Guido and Capt Viilafria were brans-
ferred to 3ilibid prison where, before we were talken to the rooms, our
long heir and beerd were clipped. Ve vere then to De kmown by mumbers
only. I ves mumber 395 The conditions in Bilivid is just the contin-
uation of Fort Sentiago mimiz the stables near by. We had to spead our
£irst two nights therein handeuffed in "pairs's

One prisoner in Bilibid vho was accused for having teken part on
the asseult egainst a Jepenese detachment in Bulacan told me that he
ves innocent but had to admit it after hvaing been tortured end after
several of his co-accused have died in the torture chamber.

On 11 Feb U2, Senator Rodriguez, Col. Guido, Capt Villafria, Gov-
ernor Rodriguez and I, witi¥Bthers, vere pardoned end released from
Bi1ib1d prisons after having been told that we mist cooperate in the
esteblishment of the New Philippines. In my case I ws told to rejoin
the Constabulery as soon as possidle. I lost 5 pounds out of my ori-
ginal veight of 185 pounds - suffering from berd-beri, trench mounth
or pgorhes, etc. The dey previous our Telease our hemds and faces
were' shaved "so that ve mey appeer handsome", Vhen I ceme out my best
friends and even my wife could not recognize me - except for my voice.

On 27 Mey 43, I hod been reappointed in a reduced rank (vas dis-
nigsed as lst Asst Director) as First Class Inspector of the Burean
of Constatulery (Lt.-Col) md assigned Superintendent of the Constabu-
lary Academys

On 20th Feb 4y, my son, Lt Irineo Buenconcejo Jr, a veteran of
Batean, Oscar Ochoa, formerly a Cedet Colonel of the Far Bastern Uni-
versity, and Lt. Porfirio Bretana who was & guerrille operative from
Panay, Romblon and Mindoro, vere errested by the Kempei for organizing
guerrilla units in Manila, Despite my warning, something went wrong
Ea several handgrensdes distributed by Lt. Bretana have Deen found -
one of them in my owvn home. The boys apparently subteined,despite of
Sortures, that I hed no kuowledge of thelr activities. I vas told to
report to Fort Sentiago but vas released after three hours of question-
ing ss to my comnection vith the activities of my son.

On July W4, I requested a Jap Kempei vho was an instructor in the
Constabulary Acedemy to deliver en wndershirt and e peir of drawers to

-y
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my son in Fort Sentisgo but on the following day he returned me the
tlothing saying thet my con vas not there anymore.

On Sept 44, I requested the Director of Prison to £ind out the
whereabouts of my son and his companions. Ee showed me the ligt of
all the military and political prisomers in funtinzlupe but none of
them eppear in that list.

On or about Dec k%, I met seversl prisomers who were released
from Fort Santiago one of them Lt. Feusto Tady vho wes arrested Au-
gust Wy Lt Tedy informed me that he vas informed that my son wes
taken out one night already expiring after he vas tortured that daye
I have not mebany ome who cen testify as to his death for which his
widoy end his little son heve not as yet received any momey - back
pey, etc. All those imprisoned during 194k, testify that they were
given only e very smell amount of rice omce a Cay. As those boys
have not been heard from since then, I am possitively sure that they
mst have died thru starvation at lesst. No ome.cen live for more
than seven months in Fort Sentiago undersch conditionse

On or about 20 Dec L4, seversl high rening officers of the Cons-
tabulary, General Nativided, Colonels Fidel Cruz, Tomss Dumaoal, Lt.
Col, Freucisco Luna, Mejor Monsod, Captain Villafria and Major Umali
(Veterens of Bataan with the exception of Gen. Natividad, lejor Umali
and Cept Villafria) were arrested by the Kempei snd have never been
heard of. Major Ojeda was also arrested but wos released sbout 15
Jan U5, Many civilians were also arrested and very few if any have
returned homg.

At about 7 PU 20 Jen U5, I was walking down Quezon Avenue when
1 notieed three trucks, covered with tarpaplin and guarded by Kempeis.
At first I though that they were loaded with cocomuts but ome of the
"Cocomuts" lifted itself high enough to partly 1if# the canvas and I no-
ticed they were prisoners on the way to the lorth cembteryl's

Thra my own observation Fort Santiag, has been used as:

2. & torture chamber used to extort information from persons
teken there snd es & warning o those vho can not or refused to swal-
lov the "Go-prosperity Sphere.

Do In 1942, end early pert of 1943, not only importemt military
or political personanges were faken there but also any one vho may be
Pointed out by their spies as USAFIE men who did not surrender, and
‘those who temper with "Zealed Zodegas"s On Jen 42, Col. Ohta was re-
1lieved by Gol Hegahama as Chief Kempei in the P.I, The latter initiated
& policy of "Attraction" to win full cooperation of the Filipinos and
because of that police eleven of us were released 1l Feb 43, and several
others were released later - etther from Fort Sentlago or Juntinglupas

e, Leter in 19Ml, euspectsd guerrillas, non-collavorationists (one
of those wes 0ol Jaja vho had been arrested for the second time) persons
suspected of listening to forelen brosdcasts were teken in. That only
a few of those taken in 194} vere releaced - due to angsr of Col Negahama
for the failure of his "policy of attractionf,

e
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That very few persons were released and able to tell of some-
thing of the tortures iaflicted to others and whst had havpended to bhem
we could only hear the howling and Deating end wateling but could not
see thems (I forget to mention on the above parsgraphs, the ‘burning by
cigers or cigerettes)s Vhen a victim is teken out of the room end is
not retunred, he mey have been relessed, trensgerred to Bilibid or to
Heaven.

e. Thet mone of the well-lmown persone such as Gemeral Lim, Gen.
Hetividad, Generel de Jesus, Colonels,ioren, Magtoto, Fidel Crug, Pastor
lexrtelino, Tomas Dumacal, Lt. Col. Francisco Luna, Nejors Honsod and
Umieli vho were arrested on the leter part of 194 and taken to Fort
Sentisgo heve not becn seen or heard from. Several rurors, possibly
Dpropagated by Kempeis, have been circulated that lajor Mensod was henged
Dby the feet and his head was covered with papers, soaked with oil and
burnedf ThetGen de Jesus vas fed alive to the cbocodiles in the equarium,

f. That upon reoccupation of the Philippines no priconers were
recovered from Fort Semtisgo. I tried ay best to find out sbout it be-
ceuse of my son who might be ons of them but found no ones I can not
testify as to any records or documents that might have been swized al-
though I precsume thet there vas none ac the tmildings have been burned.

» It is a vell known fact that no Filipino Prisoners have been

teken to prison cemps in Teivan, Korea, Japan or elsewhere.

The Keupel Chiefe were: Col. Ohta later relieved by Col. Hagahama,
ZLieut Col. Kudama, Mejor Namra and Captain Hanasi,Chief of Investiga~
tions. The highest renking N1CO investigator was Sgt-Vajor Shibatoy
Investigatbme-were never conducted by officers becuase they are supposed
to be eivilizeds Enlisted men nvestigators had the power and authority
o do anything with the prisoners.

3
Cols Inf (6SC
81027

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this 2= day of -Eisz !
195, at Mouila ‘

o
C X femunrn
inistering Officer.
Mﬁr -~
Fenk Br of 5v,
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0zficers I know to have been picked up by Jepanese Military
Police, Informetion is to the effect thet they have Deen kblled.

NAMES : RAYK : BREMARLS
1. Vicente Lim : Brig-Gen : CG, 4lgt Inf Div (PA), Was
i (Pa) teken into custody by Jap
: 1P _sometime in August, 1Ml
2. Fldel Segumdo @ Brig-Gen ¢ (G, lst Regular Division
(8) (PA). Picked by Jap IP about
: later part of November, 1gh%
3. Simeon de Jesus @ Brig-Cen : On duty, G-2, USAF Batean.
(PA) 3 Picked about 194}
4, Mamel Olympia Colonel chief, S (PA) after death
(P4) of Col Iuns. Picked early
part of August, 19U,
5. Juan Yoren Colonel : Chief of Staff, 1lth Inf Div
(®s) (Pa). Picked between Novemver
2nd_December, 194k,
6. Alejendro Garcie Colonel : Artillery Comander, 2nd Reg-
(PS) : uler Divigion (PA). Picked
: i eerlier 4l i )
7. Fidel N. Cruz Lt.-Col i €O, 4lst Inf Regt (PA).Picl{ed
(PA) _: sbout December, 19U
8. Arsenio Natividad Anti-Sebotege Rggiments Pick-
ed sbout December, 19U,
9. Trencisco Luna

PA)
T Colonel

G-3, 21et Inf Div (Fa). Pich-
ed 194

hief of Staff,3lst xnf Div

(Ps) (PA). Picked around November
: or December, 1
Tustaquio Colgnel Gnie F Sta{f, 101at. Af Div,
(PS) _ : (PA).No idea as to date picked.
12, Lorenzo Senta “eria Hajor ¢ On duty, G-i, USAFFE. Mo idea
(PA) _: when picked.
13, Vivencio Orais o
(Pa)
14 Jacinto R. Aguile Major : GO of a Bn, Tlst Inf Div (FA)
(PA) 3 ¥o idec when taken by Jap MP
15. Alberto O, Fenix Captain : Asst. Adjutent General, ond
(Pa) Regular Division (PA), No
: : ides when teken into cutody
16, Jose P, Guido + Lt,~Col & With Anti-Sabotage Beg,xmsnh
1 (PA) & Date picked up by Jap MP,
s i 1 have n idea.
17, Ayelino D, Villsfria : Ceptain : With Anti-! -Sabotage Regiments
P fey have been picked up
s i around December, 194k
-1
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18, CGodofredo R. Monsod

s Major & CC,2nd Bn, Hth EG Reghbs Pick-
PN Y) ed wp eround December, 19kl
19. Tomes Domaoel Lt.-Bol ' Chief of Steff, Mlst Inf Div
(28) (PA). Pi

ced around Dec.,19kl

R e
_—. F.%’um, F-1362
MATIV qsc “J
fter b @b tune e to bms when adper memel
oty we poeted by L L
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